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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

MARSHALL DIVISION 

 

TRUESIGHT COMMUNICATIONS LLC, 

 

Plaintiff, 

 

v. 

 

TCL TECHNOLOGY GROUP CORP., TCL 

ELECTRONICS HOLDINGS LIMITED, 

TCL COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY 

HOLDINGS LIMITED, TCL 

COMMUNICATION LIMITED, TCT 

MOBILE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED, 

HUIZHOU TCL MOBILE 

COMMUNICATION COMPANY 

LIMITED, and TCL MOBILE 

COMMUNICATION (HK) COMPANY 

LIMITED, 

 

Defendants. 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

 

 

Case No. 2:24-cv-00032-JRG 

 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT 

 Plaintiff Truesight Communications LLC (“Truesight” or “Plaintiff”) for its First Amended 

Complaint against Defendants TCL Technology Group Corp. (“TCL Technology”), TCL 

Electronics Holdings Limited (“TCL Electronics”), TCL Communication Technology Holdings 

Limited (“TCL Communication”), TCL Communication Limited (“TCLC”), TCT Mobile 

International Limited (“TCT”), Huizhou TCL Mobile Communication Company Limited 

(“Huizhou TCL Mobile”), and TCL Mobile Communication (HK) Company Limited (“TCL 

Mobile (HK)”) (collectively “TCL” or “Defendants”) for patent infringement alleges as follows: 
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THE PARTIES 

1. Truesight is a limited liability company organized and existing under the laws of 

the State of Texas, with its principal place of business located at 209 East Austin Street, Marshall, 

TX 75670. 

2. Upon information and belief, Defendant TCL Technology is a corporation 

organized and existing under the laws of China, with its principal place of business located at TCL 

Keji Daxia, No.17, Huifeng 3rd Road, Zhongkai High-Tech Zone Huizhou, Guangdong, 516000 

China.  Defendant TCL Technology is a leading manufacturer and seller of smartphones and tablets 

in the world and in the United States. Upon information and belief, Defendant TCL Technology 

owns the trademark “TCL” which is marked on the Accused Products.1  Upon information and 

belief, Defendant TCL Technology does business in Texas and in the Eastern District of Texas, 

directly or through intermediaries. 

3. Upon information and belief, Defendant TCL Electronics Holdings Limited is a 

corporation organized and existing under the laws of the Cayman Islands, with its principal place 

of business located at 7th Floor, Building 22E, 22 Science Park East Avenue, Hong Kong Science 

Park, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong, and may be served pursuant to the provisions of the 

Hague Convention.  Upon information and belief, TCL Electronics is an indirect wholly-owned 

subsidiary of TCL Technology.  TCL Electronics is involved in the manufacture and sale of TVs, 

smartphones, smart connective devices and services, smart commercial display and smart home 

products and provision of Internet platform operating services.2 Upon information and belief, TCL 

 
1 See https://www.tcl.com/usca/content/dam/tcl/product/mobile/tcl-10-5g-

uw/downloads/VZW%20TCL-T790S%20UM_20201020_FINAL.pdf. 

 
2 TCL Electronics Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020, at 141, 

https://doc.irasia.com/listco/hk/tclelectronics/annual/2020/ar2020.pdf. 
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Electronics does business in Texas and in the Eastern District of Texas, directly or through 

intermediaries. 

4. Upon information and belief, Defendant TCL Communication Technology 

Holdings Limited is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the People’s Republic 

of China, with its principal place of business located at TCL Communication Technology Building, 

Block F4, TCL International E City, Zhong Shan Yuan Road, Nanshan District, Shenzhen, 

Guangdong, 518052, China, and may be served pursuant to the provisions of the Hague 

Convention.  Upon information and belief, TCL Communication is a wholly-owned subsidiary of 

TCL Electronics,3 which is an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of TCL Technology.  Together 

with its subsidiaries, TCL Communication manufactures and sells smartphones. Upon information 

and belief, TCL Communication does business in Texas and in the Eastern District of Texas, 

directly or through intermediaries. 

5. Upon information and belief, Defendant TCL Communication Limited is a 

corporation organized and existing under the laws of the People’s Republic of China, having an 

address of 7/F, Block F4, TCL International E. City Zhong Shan Yuan Road, Nanshan District, 

Shenzhen, China, and may be served pursuant to the provisions of the Hague Convention. TCLC 

is involved in the manufacture and sale of smartphones. Upon information and belief, TCLC does 

business in Texas and in the Eastern District of Texas, directly or through intermediaries. 

6. Upon information and belief, Defendant TCT Mobile International Limited is a 

corporation organized and existing under the laws of the Hong Kong Special Administrative 

Region of the People’s Republic of China, with a principal place of business located at 5/F, 

 
3 Id. at 145. 
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Building 22E, Hong Kong Science Park, 22 Science Park East Avenue, Sha Tin, Hong Kong, 

China., and may be served pursuant to the provisions of the Hague Convention.  TCT is a leading 

manufacturer and seller of smartphones and tablets in the world and in the United States. Upon 

information and belief, TCL Communication is a wholly-owned subsidiary of TCL Electronics.4  

Upon information and belief, TCT does business in Texas and in the Eastern District of Texas, 

directly or through intermediaries. 

7. Upon information and belief, Defendant Huizhou TCL Mobile Communication 

Company Limited is a corporation o rganized and existi ng under the laws of the People’s Republic 

of China, with a principal place of business located at No. 3, Donghe South Road, Dongxin Area, 

Dongjiang Hi-tech Industrial Park, Zhongkai Hi-tech Zone, Huizhou City, Guangdong, China and 

may be served pursuant to the provisions of the Hague Convention. Upon information and belief, 

Huizhou TCL Mobile is a wholly-owned subsidiary of TCL Electronics and is involved in the 

manufacture and sale of smartphones. Upon information and belief, Huizhou TCL Mobile does 

business in Texas and in the Eastern District of Texas, directly or through intermediaries. 

8. Upon information and belief, Defendant TCL Mobile Communication (HK) 

Company Limited is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the Hong Kong Special 

Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China with a principal place of business located 

at 5/F, Building 22E, Hong Kong Science Park, 22 Science Park East Avenue, Sha Tin, Hong 

Kong, China, and may be served pursuant to the provisions of the Hague Convention. Upon 

information and belief, TCL Mobile (HK) is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of TCL 

Electronics5 involved in the manufacture and sale of smartphones. Upon information and belief, 

 
4 Id. 
5 Id. 
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TCL Mobile (HK) does business in Texas and in the Eastern District of Texas, directly or through 

intermediaries. 

9. Upon information and belief, the Defendants are part of an interrelated group of 

companies the work in consort with one another, which together comprise one of the world’s 

largest manufacturers of televisions and smartphones and one of the leading sellers of televisions 

and smartphones in the United States, including the TCL and Alcatel brands.  TCL, which refers 

to the company and its subsidiaries as the “Group,” describes itself as one of the “world’s leading 

consumer electronics company” and states that the Group is “mainly involved in the manufacture 

and sale of television (‘TV’) sets, smart mobile, smart connective devices and services, smart 

commercial display and smart home products and provision of Internet platform operating 

services.”6   

10. Defendants named above and their affiliates operate as a unitary business venture 

and are both jointly and severally liable for the acts of patent infringement alleged herein. 

JURISDICTION 

11. This is an action for patent infringement arising under the patent laws of the United 

States, 35 U.S.C. §§ 1, et seq.  This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§§ 1331 and 1338(a).  

12. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants.  Defendants regularly 

conduct business and have committed acts of patent infringement and/or has induced acts of patent 

infringement by others in this Judicial District and/or have contributed to patent infringement by 

others in this Judicial District, the State of Texas, and elsewhere in the United States.  Defendants, 

directly and/or through subsidiaries or intermediaries, have committed and continue to commit 

 
6 Id. at 5, 141.  
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acts of infringement in this District by, among other things, making, using, importing, offering to 

sell, and/or selling products that infringe the Patents-in-Suit.  Courts in Texas, including within 

this Judicial District, have concluded that Defendants, including TCL Technology, are subject to 

personal jurisdiction in the State of Texas and within this Judicial District.  See, e.g., Canon, Inc. 

v. TCL Elecs. Holdings Ltd., No. 2:18-CV-00546-JRG, 2020 WL 1478356, at *3 (E.D. Tex. Mar. 

25, 2020) (“The Court therefore concludes that exercising personal jurisdiction over [TCL 

Technology] is reasonable and fair. Since the Court has also concluded that [TCL Technology] 

purposefully directed the Accused Products to this forum, and the alleged infringement arises out 

of and/or relates thereto, the Court finds that it may exercise personal jurisdiction over [TCL 

Technology] under specific jurisdiction.”); Semcon IP Inc. v. TCT Mobile Int'l Ltd., No. 2:18-CV-

00194-JRG, 2019 WL 2774362, at *1 (E.D. Tex. July 2, 2019) (denying TCT Mobile International 

Limited’s motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(2)).  

13. Defendants, including TCL Technology, induce their subsidiaries, affiliates, retail 

partners, and customers to make, use, sell, offer for sale, and/or important throughout the United 

States, including within this Judicial District, infringing products and placing such products into 

the stream of commerce via established distribution channels knowing or understanding that such 

products would be sold and used in the United States, including in the Eastern District of Texas.  

Paragraphs 2 through 10 are incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.  Defendants, 

including TCL Technology, purposefully direct the infringing products identified herein into 

established distribution channels within this District and the U.S. nationally.  For example, 

Defendants sell and offer to sell the infringing products through its website, 

https://www.tcl.com/us/en, which may be accessed throughout the United States, the State of 

Texas, and this Judicial District.  Additionally, Defendants have authorized sellers and sales 
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representatives that offer for sale and sell the infringing products throughout the State of Texas and 

to consumers throughout this District, including at the following locations in this District: Best 

Buy, 422 West Loop 281, Suite 100, Longview, Texas 75605; Costco Wholesale, 3650 West 

University Drive, McKinney, Texas 75071; Office Depot, 422 West Loop 281, Suite 300, 

Longview, Texas 75605; Target, 3092 North Eastman Road, Suite 100, Longview, Texas 75605; 

Wal-Mart, 1701 East End Boulevard North, Marshall, Texas 75670; Verizon, 500 E Loop 281, 

Longview, TX 75670; AT&T, 1712 E Grand Ave, Marshall, TX 75670; T-Mobile, 1806 E. End 

Blvd., N. Ste 100, Marshall, TX 75670. 

14. Venue is proper in this Judicial District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because, 

among other things, Defendant is not a resident in the United States, and thus may be sued in any 

judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(c)(3). 

15. Defendant is subject to this Court’s jurisdiction pursuant to due process and/or the 

Texas Long Arm Statute due at least to its substantial business in this State and Judicial District, 

including (a) at least part of its past infringing activities, (b) regularly doing or soliciting business 

in Texas, and/or (c) engaging in persistent conduct and/or deriving substantial revenue from goods 

and services provided to customers in Texas. 

PATENTS-IN-SUIT 

16. On February 3, 2015, the United Stared Patent and Trademark Office duly and 

legally issued U.S. Patent No. 8,949,879 (the “’879 Patent”) entitled “Access Controls for Known 

Content”.  A true and correct copy of the ’879 Patent is available at: 

http://pdfpiw.uspto.gov/.piw?Docid=8949879. 

17. On November 25, 2014, the United States Patent and Trademark Office duly and 

legally issued U.S. Patent No. 8,898,803 (the “’803 Patent”) entitled “Content and Identity 

Case 2:24-cv-00032-JRG   Document 13   Filed 10/15/24   Page 7 of 35 PageID #:  429



8 
 

Delivery System for Portable Playback of Content and Streaming Service Integration”.  A true and 

correct copy of the ’803 Patent is available at: http://pdfpiw.uspto.gov/.piw?Docid=8898803. 

18. On March 14, 2017, the United States Patent and Trademark Office duly and legally 

issued U.S. Patent No. 9,595,300 (the “’300 Patent”) entitled “Contextual Chapter Navigation”.  

A true and correct copy of the ’300 Patent is available at: 

http://pdfpiw.uspto.gov/.piw?Docid=9595300. 

19. On June 3, 2014, the United States Patent and Trademark Office duly and legally 

issued U.S. Patent No. 8,745,749 (the “’749 Patent”) entitled “Virtual Secure Digital Card”.  A 

true and correct copy of the ’749 Patent is available at: 

http://pdfpiw.uspto.gov/.piw?Docid=8745749. 

20. Truesight is the sole and exclusive owner of all right, title, and interest in the’879 

Patent, the ’803 Patent, the ’300 Patent, and the ’749 Patent, (collectively, the “Patents-in-Suit”), 

and holds the exclusive right to take all actions necessary to enforce its rights to the Patents-in-

Suit, including the filing of this patent infringement lawsuit.  Truesight also has the right to recover 

all damages for past, present, and future infringement of the Patents-in-Suit and to seek injunctive 

relief as appropriate under the law.   

21. Truesight has at all times complied with the marking provisions of 35 U.S.C. § 287 

with respect to the Patents-in-Suit.  Upon information and belief, prior assignees and licensees 

have also complied with the marking provisions of 35 U.S.C. § 287. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

22. The Patents-in-Suit generally relate to methods and apparatuses related storage and 

display of digital media.  

23. The ’879 Patent relates to technology involving personalized access controls 
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associated with digital media in a digital library by creating policy decisions regarding use of the 

asset based on these settings.  The access controls can be implemented on an individual or on a 

group basis.  The technology described in the ’879 Patent was developed by Joseph Zipperer, 

Steven King, and Valiant Seu.  For example, the technology is implemented in infringing TCL 

smartphones and televisions, including, but not limited to, the TCL Pro 10, using software and/or 

applications, such as Google Family Link, to put content restrictions on certain media, such as 

television shows and movies.  

24. The ’803 Patent relates to technology for downloading streamed digital media from 

a device to a media storage system for when the device is not connected to a network.  The 

technology described in the ’803 Patent was developed by David W. Hostetter and Joseph P. 

Zipperer.  For example, the technology is implemented in TCL smartphones and other mobile 

devices including, but not limited to, the TCL Pro 10, when videos are downloaded to the device’s 

virtual and/or flash memory, such as an SD card or equivalent internal storage.  

25. The ’300 Patent relates to technology for systems and methods for chapter 

navigation of video playbacks along a timeline of the video.  The technology described in the ’300 

Patent was developed by Todd E. Duffin, Todd R. Malsbary, and Mark E. Phillips.  For example, 

the technology is implemented in TCL smartphones and other mobile devices, including, but not 

limited to, the TCL Pro 10, and televisions that stream videos that allow for chapter navigation 

and selection within the video, including, but not limited to, the TCL Pro 10.  

26. The ’749 Patent relates to technology for systems and methods for generating 

virtual memory.  The technology was developed by Joseph P. Zipperer and John Calixto.  For 

example, the technology is implemented in TCL smartphones and other mobile devices through 

TCL memory modules, including, but not limited to, the UFS 2.1 Memory module.  

Case 2:24-cv-00032-JRG   Document 13   Filed 10/15/24   Page 9 of 35 PageID #:  431



10 
 

27. TCL has infringed and is continuing to infringe the Patents-in-Suit by making, 

using, selling, offering to sell, and/or importing, and by actively inducing others to make, use, sell, 

offer to sell, and/or importing, products including, but not limited, to smartphones, tablets, and 

smart televisions.   

COUNT I 

(Infringement of the ’879 Patent) 

 

28. Paragraphs 1 through 27 are incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

29. Truesight has not licensed or otherwise authorized Defendants to make, use, offer 

for sale, sell, or import any products that embody the inventions of the ’879 Patent. 

30. Defendants have and continue to directly infringe the ’879 Patent, either literally or 

under the doctrine of equivalents, without authority and in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making, 

using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United States products that satisfy each 

and every limitation of one or more claims of the ’879 Patent.  Such infringing products include 

TCL smartphones, tablets, and smart televisions, including, but not limited to, the TCL Pro 10, 

among other TCL products.   

31. For example, Defendants have and continue to directly infringe at least claim 4 of 

the ’879 Patent by making, using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United States 

products that include TCL smartphones, tablets, and smart televisions, including, but not limited 

to, the TCL Pro 10, among other TCL Products, through the implementation of content restrictions, 

such as those through Google Family Link and Disney+.  

32. The TCL Pro 10, through the use of Google Family Link, performs a method in a 

computing system for creating specific rating policies for digital media access, the method 

comprising: under control of the computing system having a memory and a processor.  For 

example, the Google family link allows users to set ratings (e.g., Teen, PG-13, PG-14) for known 
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digital content (e.g., Apps, Games, Movies, TV) to be played back on a video playback device 

having a V-chip or the equivalent thereof. 

33. The TCL Pro 10, through the use of Google Family Link, performs a step of 

retrieving media information from the memory comprising a rating based media access policy for 

a digital content; displaying the rating based media access policy to a user.  For example, the 

Google Family Link comprises a rating policy management module (e.g., Content Restrictions) 

for selectively setting rating based access control on a per media (e.g., apps, games, movies, TV, 

books) and per user basis for digital content of a digital library (e.g., Google Play library) thereby 

displaying the rating based media access policy to a user (e.g., a parent).  

34. The TCL Pro 10, through the use of Google Family Link, performs a step of 

receiving from the user a first rating based access control policy override action for a first viewer 

and a second, different, rating based access control policy override action for a second viewer with 

respect to a same specific digital content.  For example, Google Family Link performs the step of 

receiving from the user (e.g., a parent) a first rating based access control policy (e.g., PG-13 

Movies for a 14-year-old) override action for a first viewer and a second, different, rating based 

access control policy override (e.g., G Movies for a 7-year-old) action for a second viewer with 

respect to a same specific digital content (e.g., a PG-13 rated movie).  

35. The TCL Pro 10, through the use of Google Family Link, performs a step wherein 

the first viewer and second viewer are separate and distinct from the user from which the override 

actions are received, and wherein the first viewer is associated with a first authentication code 

unique to the first viewer and the second viewer is associated with a second authentication code 

unique to the second viewer.  For example, a first user (e.g., a 14-year-old) and a second user (e.g., 

a 7-year-old) are separate and distinct from the user (e.g., a parent) from which the override actions 
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are received, and wherein the first viewer is associated with a first authentication code unique to 

the first viewer (e.g. the 14-year-old’s login) and the second viewer is associated with a second 

authentication code unique to the second viewer (e.g., the 7-year-old’slogin); 

36. The TCL Pro 10, through the use of applications such as Google Family Link, 

performs a step of storing the first and second policy override actions in a rating policy repository 

wherein future playback of the digital content is allowed or blocked consistent with the stored 

policy override action.  For example, Google Family Link stores the first policy override action 

(e.g., access to PG-13 movies for a 14-year-old) and second policy override actions (e.g., no access 

to PG-13 movies for a 7-year-old) in a rating policy repository wherein future playback of the 

digital content (e.g., a pG13 rated movie) is allowed or blocked consistent with the stored policy 

override action.  

37. The TCL Pro 10, through the use of applications such as Google Family Link, 

performs a step wherein the first viewer is allowed to access the specific digital content based upon 

the first authentication code and the second viewer is blocked from access to the specific digital 

content based upon the second authentication code, wherein the first authentication code comprises 

a personal identification number (PIN).  For example, the first user (e.g., a 14-year-old) is required 

to use their Google login to see available content (e.g., a PG-13 movie), while the second viewer 

(e.g., a 7-year-old) is blocked from accessing the specific digital content based upon the 

authentication code (e.g., the 7-year-old’s login), wherein the first authentication code comprises 

a personal identification number (PIN).  

38. The TCL Pro 10, through the use of applications such as Google Family Link, 

performs a step wherein the first of the two users is allowed to access the specific digital content 

in response to determining that a content identifier of the specific digital content matches a user 
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identifier of the first user and the personal identification number of the first user is successfully 

authenticated.  For example, the first of the two users (e.g., a 14-year-old) is allowed to access the 

specific digital content (e.g., a PG-13 movie) in response to determining that a content identifier 

of the specific digital content identifier (e.g., Family Link inclusion of a PG-13 or lower movie) 

matches a user identifier of the first user (e.g., a 14-year-old’s username) and the personal 

identification number of the first user is successfully authenticated (e.g., a 14-year-old’s successful 

login with password). 

39. TCL directly infringes the ’879 Patent through the use of the TCL Pro 10 through 

promotional demonstrations, testing, repairs, and instructional guidance, thereby at least 

performing the method of at least claim 4.   

40. Defendants have and continue to indirectly infringe one or more claims of the ’879 

Patent by knowingly and intentionally inducing others, including TCL customers and end-users, 

to directly infringe, either literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, by making, using, offering 

to sell, selling and/or importing into the United States products that include infringing technology, 

such as smartphones, tablets, and smart televisions.   

41. Defendants, with knowledge that these products, or the use thereof, infringe the 

’879 Patent at least as of the date of the Original Complaint, knowingly and intentionally induced, 

and continue to knowingly and intentionally induce, direct infringement of the ’879 Patent by 

providing these products to end users for use in an infringing manner.  Alternatively, on 

information and belief, Defendants have adopted a policy of not reviewing the patents of others, 

including specifically those related to Defendants’ specific industry, thereby remaining willfully 

blind to the Patent-in-Suit at least as early as the issuance of the Patents-in-Suit. 

42. Defendants have induced infringement by others, including end users, with the 
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intent to cause infringing acts by others or, in the alternative, with the belief that there was a high 

probability that others, including end users, infringe the ’879 Patent, but while remaining willfully 

blind to the infringement.  Defendants have and continue to induce infringement by its customers 

and end-users by supplying them with instructions on how to operate the infringing technology in 

an infringing manner, while also making publicly available information on the infringing 

technology via Defendants’ website, product literature and packaging, and other publications. 

43. Truesight has suffered damages as a result of Defendants’ direct and indirect 

infringement of the ’879 Patent in an amount to be proven at trial. 

44. Truesight has suffered, and will continue to suffer, irreparable harm as a result of 

Defendants’ infringement of the ’879 Patent, for which there is no adequate remedy at law, unless 

Defendants’ infringement is enjoined by this Court. 

COUNT II 

(Infringement of the ’803 Patent) 

 

45. Paragraphs 1 through 27 are incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

46. Truesight has not licensed or otherwise authorized Defendants to make, use, offer 

for sale, sell, or import any products that embody the inventions of the ’803 Patent. 

47. Defendants have and continue to directly infringe the ’803 Patent, either literally or 

under the doctrine of equivalents, without authority and in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making, 

using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United States products that satisfy each 

and every limitation of one or more claims of the ’803 Patent.  Such products include smartphones 

and tablets, such as the TCL Pro 10 preloaded with the Netflix Mobile Application7, among TCL 

 
7 TCL smartphones, including the TCL Pro 10, are marketed for use with Netflix.  See 

https://www.techadvisor.com/article/721435/tcl-10-pro-review.html; 

https://hothardware.com/reviews/tcl-10l-and-10-pro-review?page=4.  
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other products. 

48. For example, Defendants have and continue to directly infringe at least claim 1 of 

the ’803 Patent by making, using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United States 

products that include smartphones and tablets, such as the TCL Pro 10 preloaded with the Netflix 

Mobile Application, among TCL other products.  

49. The TCL Pro 10, integrated with the Netflix Mobile Application, performs a 

method of delivering content by integrating a kiosk delivery system with a streaming service (e.g., 

Netflix).  The TCL Pro 10, integrated with the Netflix Mobile Application, performs a step of 

transferring content from a kiosk to a flash memory media device, wherein the flash memory media 

device is configured to be connected to a playback device.  For example, the streaming content 

from Netflix can be downloaded and saved on the smartphones SD card or equivalent internal 

storage.  

50. The TCL Pro 10, integrated with the Netflix Mobile Application, performs a step 

of transferring user service information, including user account information for one or more 

account based digital content streaming services, from the kiosk to the flash memory media device.  

For example, Netflix stores user credentials information such as username and password on the 

user device memory.  This memory can be the internal or external memory of the device. 

51. The TCL Pro 10, integrated with the Netflix Mobile Application, performs a step 

wherein, responsive to the flash memory media device being connected to the playback device: if 

the playback device is connected to a network via a network connection having a speed that meets 

a threshold for streaming digital content, the transferred user service information from the 

connected flash memory media device is used to access at least one of the one or more account 

based digital streaming services to stream a higher quality version of the content to the connected 
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playback device for playback, wherein the higher quality version of the content is a high definition 

version of standard definition content transferred from the kiosk to the flash memory media device.  

For example, Contents can be downloaded from Netflix and stored in SD cards or equivalent 

internal storage and can be viewed later, even in the absence of a network (internet). Netflix access 

stored user information such as username and password to streamline online content at an HD 

quality when the device is connected to the internet and has an internet connection speed of 5Mbps 

(i.e., threshold) and above: 

8 

52. The TCL Pro 10, integrated with the Netflix Mobile Application, performs a step 

wherein, responsive to the flash memory media device being connected to the playback device: 

otherwise, the content stored on the connected flash memory media device is used for playback of 

the content.  For example, Netflix allows the user to watch movies downloaded on the device SD 

memory card or equivalent internal storage when there is no internet connection9: 

 
8 See https://www.reviews.org/internet-service/internet-speed-for-

netflix/#:~:text=Netflix%20recommends%20at%20least%205,Ultra%20HD%20or%204K%20q

uality.&text=And%20while%2025%20Mbps%20might,speed%20for%20only%20watching%20

Netflix.  

 
9 See https://help.netflix.com/en/node/54816. 
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53. TCL directly infringes the ’803 Patent through the use of the TCL Pro 10 through 

promotional demonstrations, testing, repairs, and instructional guidance, thereby at least 

performing the method of at least claim 1.   

54. Defendants have and continue to indirectly infringe one or more claims of the ’803 

Patent by knowingly and intentionally inducing others, including TCL customers and end-users, 

to directly infringe, either literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, by making, using, offering 

to sell, selling and/or importing into the United States products that include infringing technology, 

such as smartphones, tablets, and smart televisions.   

55. Defendants, with knowledge that these products, or the use thereof, infringe the 

’803 Patent at least as of the date of the Original Complaint, knowingly and intentionally induced, 

and continue to knowingly and intentionally induce, direct infringement of the ’803 Patent by 

providing these products to end users for use in an infringing manner.  Alternatively, on 

information and belief, Defendants have adopted a policy of not reviewing the patents of others, 

including specifically those related to Defendants’ specific industry, thereby remaining willfully 

blind to the Patent-in-Suit at least as early as the issuance of the Patents-in-Suit. 

56. Defendants have induced infringement by others, including end users, with the 

intent to cause infringing acts by others or, in the alternative, with the belief that there was a high 

probability that others, including end users, infringe the ’803 Patent, but while remaining willfully 

blind to the infringement.  Defendants have and continue to induce infringement by its customers 

and end-users by supplying them with instructions on how to operate the infringing technology in 

an infringing manner, while also making publicly available information on the infringing 

technology via Defendant’s website, product literature and packaging, and other publications. 

57. Truesight has suffered damages as a result of Defendants’ direct and indirect 
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infringement of the ’803 Patent in an amount to be proven at trial. 

58. Truesight has suffered, and will continue to suffer, irreparable harm as a result of 

Defendants’ infringement of the ’803 Patent, for which there is no adequate remedy at law, unless 

Defendants’ infringement is enjoined by this Court. 

COUNT III 

(Infringement of the ’300 Patent) 

 

59. Paragraphs 1 through 27 are incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

60. Truesight has not licensed or otherwise authorized Defendants to make, use, offer 

for sale, sell, or import any products that embody the inventions of the ’300 Patent. 

61. Defendants have and continue to directly infringe the ’300 Patent, either literally or 

under the doctrine of equivalents, without authority and in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making, 

using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United States products that satisfy each 

and every limitation of one or more claims of the ’300 Patent.  Such products include smartphones, 

tablets, and smart televisions, including, but not limited to, the TCL Pro 10, among other TCL 

products.  

62. For example, Defendants have and continue to directly infringe at least claim 1 of 

the ’300 Patent by making, using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United States 

products that include smartphones, tablets, and smart televisions, including, but not limited to, the 

TCL Pro 10, which includes the YouTube Mobile Application as part of the Google Mobile 

Services (“GMS”), among other TCL products. 

63. The TCL Pro 10, through the YouTube Mobile Application, performs a method for 

navigating a plurality of chapters of video content within a video.  YouTube openly promotes its 

chapter navigation functionality and offers advice to users on how to incorporate said functionality 

in their videos. YouTube also added the chapter navigation functionality to its Mobile Application, 
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which comes pre-downloaded on most Android phones. 

64. The TCL Pro 10, through the YouTube Mobile Application, performs a method of 

reading from a metadata file stored with the video chapter start times, and location on a secure 

digital card (SD card) of chapter preview images that correspond to the playable content as initially 

configured and stored on the secure digital card, each chapter comprising a segment of content of 

the video.  For example, when a user selects to watch certain YouTube videos on the Android app, 

users will have access to a chapter navigation functionality. The entirety of the YouTube video 

will be broken up into several chapters, each with a title and a preview image. The chapters will 

be displayed on the video timeline, in a list format, and in sequence with preview images of each 

chapter and the time corresponding to each chapter: 
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65. The TCL Pro 10, through the YouTube Mobile Application, performs a method of 

presenting, during continuous playback of a video, an on-screen display to a user, the on-screen 

display including a timeline having a demarcation for the beginning of each of the plurality of 

chapters of the video and having a marker corresponding to a current position in the video 

playback, the timeline assembled from the chapter titles, the chapter start times, and the location 

on the secure digital card of chapter preview images that correspond to the playable content stored 

as part of the metadata, and the on-screen display including one image for each of the plurality of 

chapters from the chapter preview images displayed in sequential order parallel to the timeline, 

wherein a focus identifier marks an image of a chapter corresponding to the current position within 

the continuous video playback.  For example, during continuous playback of a video on the 

YouTube Mobile Application, a user can access several on-screen displays of the video’s timeline.  

A first timeline is displayed as a red-and-gray bar at the bottom of the video, which displays the 

timeline of the entire video in sections.  The red portions of the bar designate portions of the video 

that have already played, while the gray sections indicate sections of the video that have yet to 

play but have buffered. At least two other timelines are viewable in the video’s description.  A 

second timeline has a preview image for each chapter, along with the chapter’s start time and its 

name.  When the video is playing a particular chapter, the section of this timeline with the 

corresponding chapter preview image will be highlighted in a light-gray color. The focus identifier 

(i.e., a small, red dot on the video bar) is located in the corresponding chapter currently playing 

while the preview image in the video’s description is highlighted.  A third timeline – also available 

in the video’s description – is a vertical list of the chapters’ start times and names. 

66. The TCL Pro 10, through the YouTube Mobile Application, performs a method of 

receiving a selection of one of the chapter preview images as chapter skip input during the 
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continuous playback of the video.  For example, during continuous playback of a video on 

YouTube’s Mobile Application, a user can skip forward or backward in the video by selecting a 

chapter in one of the video timelines that has corresponding chapter preview images (e.g., skipping 

from Chapter “Sunrise” to Chapter “The Same Test From A Different Angle”, as shown below): 

Case 2:24-cv-00032-JRG   Document 13   Filed 10/15/24   Page 24 of 35 PageID #:  446



25 
 

 

Case 2:24-cv-00032-JRG   Document 13   Filed 10/15/24   Page 25 of 35 PageID #:  447



26 
 

67. The TCL Pro 10, through the YouTube Mobile Application, performs a method of 

moving the at least one image from each chapter one position along the line with respect to the 

focus identifier, according to the chapter skip input, wherein the one image is moved to the left 

when the chapter skip input indicates a skip forward and wherein the one image is moved to the 

right when the chapter skip input indicates a skip backward.  For example, a user on the YouTube 

Mobile Application can select to skip forward or backward in a video by clicking on one of the 

preview images in the chapter timeline, where the preview image corresponds to the chapter to 

which the user is skipping.  If the user clicks on an image to the right of the chapter currently 

playing on the chapter timeline, the video skips forward. Alternatively, if the user clicks on an 

image to the left of the image of the chapter currently playing on the chapter timeline, the video 

skips backwards.  The focus identifier (i.e., the red dot on the video playback in the figure above) 

moves accordingly. In response to skipping forward in the video, the selected video chapter 

preview image is oriented in the center of the chapter timeline and is highlighted in a light-gray 

color: 
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68. The TCL Pro 10, through the YouTube Mobile Application, performs a method of 

skipping playback of the video to a chapter identified by the focus identifier such that the video 

playback continues from the position of the chapter identified by the focus identifier.  For example, 

a user using the YouTube Mobile Application can also skip chapters by moving the focus identifier 

(i.e., the red dot on the video playback) to the right or to the left (i.e., forward or backward in the 

video, respectively). The focus identifier’s position corresponds to the chapter currently playing 

in the video.  

69. TCL directly infringes the ’300 Patent through the use of the TCL Pro 10 through 

promotional demonstrations, testing, repairs, and instructional guidance, thereby at least 

performing the method of at least claim 1.   

70. Defendants have and continue to indirectly infringe one or more claims of the ’300 

Patent by knowingly and intentionally inducing others, including TCL customers and end-users, 

to directly infringe, either literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, by making, using, offering 

to sell, selling and/or importing into the United States products that include infringing technology, 

such as smartphones, tablets, and smart televisions.   

71. Defendants, with knowledge that these products, or the use thereof, infringe the 

’300 Patent at least as of the date of the Original Complaint, knowingly and intentionally induced, 

and continue to knowingly and intentionally induce, direct infringement of the ’300 Patent by 

providing these products to end users for use in an infringing manner.  Alternatively, on 

information and belief, Defendants have adopted a policy of not reviewing the patents of others, 

including specifically those related to Defendants’ specific industry, thereby remaining willfully 

blind to the Patent-in-Suit at least as early as the issuance of the Patents-in-Suit. 

72. Defendants have induced infringement by others, including end users, with the 
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intent to cause infringing acts by others or, in the alternative, with the belief that there was a high 

probability that others, including end users, infringe the ’300 Patent, but while remaining willfully 

blind to the infringement.  Defendants have and continue to induce infringement by its customers 

and end-users by supplying them with instructions on how to operate the infringing technology in 

an infringing manner, while also making publicly available information on the infringing 

technology via Defendant’s website, product literature and packaging, and other publications. 

73. Truesight has suffered damages as a result of Defendants’ direct and indirect 

infringement of the ’300 Patent in an amount to be proven at trial. 

74. Truesight has suffered, and will continue to suffer, irreparable harm as a result of 

Defendants’ infringement of the ’300 Patent, for which there is no adequate remedy at law, unless 

Defendants’ infringement is enjoined by this Court. 

COUNT IV 

(Infringement of the ’749 Patent) 

 

75. Paragraphs 1 through 27 are incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

76. Truesight has not licensed or otherwise authorized Defendants to make, use, offer 

for sale, sell, or import any products that embody the inventions of the ’749 Patent. 

77. Defendants have and continue to directly infringe the ’749 Patent, either literally or 

under the doctrine of equivalents, without authority and in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making, 

using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United States products that satisfy each 

and every limitation of one or more claims of the ’749 Patent.  Such products smartphones and 

tablets, including, but not limited to, the TCL Pro 10, among other TCL products. 

78. For example, Defendants have and continue to directly infringe at least claim 1 of 

the ’749 Patent by making, using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United States 

products that include smartphones and tablets, including, but not limited to, the TCL Pro 10, among 
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other TCL products. 

79. The TCL Pro 10, equipped with a UFS 2.1 Memory module, performs a method for 

generating a virtual secure digital (SD card).   

80. The TCL Pro 10, equipped with UFS 2.1 Memory module, performs a step of 

reading a media key block and media identification for an SD card.  For example, during 

configuration of secure storage, media keys and media identification are loaded and read.  By way 

of further example, when a video is loaded into memory on a TCL device, a Digital Rights 

Management (“DRM”) module loads and reads media keys as well as media identification and 

metadata related to DRM. 

81. The TCL Pro 10, equipped with a UFS 2.1 Memory module, performs a step of 

storing the media key block and the media identification.  For example, prior to playback, the TCL 

Pro 10 stores media key blocks and media identification.  This information can be stored on the 

UFS 2.1 Memory module. 

82. The TCL Pro 10, equipped with a UFS 2.1 Memory module, performs a step of 

creating a file system for secure data on a storage device for storage of secure data corresponding 

to a secure data area of the SD card.  For example, the TCL Pro 10 creates file systems for secure 

storage (e.g., a “Secure File System”) on a storage device (e.g., on eMMC and/or UFS memory).  

This file system (e.g., a portion of the RPMB partition) corresponds to the secure area of an SD 

card.  

83. The TCL Pro 10, equipped with UFS 2.1 Memory module, performs a step of 

creating a file system for user data on the storage device for storage of user data corresponding to 

a user data area of the SD card, wherein a size of the file system for secure data is determinant on 

a size of the file system for user data, the determination based on a lookup table providing a 
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relationship between the sizes.  For example, the TCL Pro 10 creates file systems for user data 

(e.g. the media itself such as encrypted DRM protected media). This information is stored along 

with user data on the storage of the eMMC / UFS storage.  By way of further example, the Android 

Trusty TEE Secure File system utilized by TCL Pro 10 includes the capability to create 

superblocks, which can dynamically grow the size of the secure file system based on the size of 

the unsecured user content. 

84. TCL directly infringes the ’749 Patent through the use of the TCL Pro 10 through 

promotional demonstrations, testing, repairs, and instructional guidance, thereby at least 

performing the method of at least claim 1.   

85. Defendants have and continue to indirectly infringe one or more claims of the ’749 

Patent by knowingly and intentionally inducing others, including TCL customers and end-users, 

to directly infringe, either literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, by making, using, offering 

to sell, selling and/or importing into the United States products that include infringing technology, 

such smartphones, tablets, and smart televisions.   

86. Defendants, with knowledge that these products, or the use thereof, infringe the 

’749 Patent at least as of the date of the Original Complaint, knowingly and intentionally induced, 

and continue to knowingly and intentionally induce, direct infringement of the ’749 Patent by 

providing these products to end users for use in an infringing manner.  Alternatively, on 

information and belief, Defendants have adopted a policy of not reviewing the patents of others, 

including specifically those related to Defendants’ specific industry, thereby remaining willfully 

blind to the Patent-in-Suit at least as early as the issuance of the Patents-in-Suit. 

87. Defendants have induced infringement by others, including end users, with the 

intent to cause infringing acts by others or, in the alternative, with the belief that there was a high 

Case 2:24-cv-00032-JRG   Document 13   Filed 10/15/24   Page 32 of 35 PageID #:  454



33 
 

probability that others, including end users, infringe the ’749 Patent, but while remaining willfully 

blind to the infringement.  Defendants have and continue to induce infringement by its customers 

and end-users by supplying them with instructions on how to operate the infringing technology in 

an infringing manner, while also making publicly available information on the infringing 

technology via Defendants’ website, product literature and packaging, and other publications. 

88. Truesight has suffered damages as a result of Defendants’ direct and indirect 

infringement of the ’749 Patent in an amount to be proven at trial. 

89. Truesight has suffered, and will continue to suffer, irreparable harm as a result of 

Defendants’ infringement of the ’749 Patent, for which there is no adequate remedy at law, unless 

Defendants’ infringement is enjoined by this Court. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

 

Plaintiff hereby demands a jury for all issues so triable. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 

WHEREFORE, Truesight prays for relief against Defendants as follows: 

a. Entry of judgment declaring that Defendants have directly and/or indirectly 

infringed one or more claims of each of the Patents-in-Suit; 

b. An order pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 283 permanently enjoining Defendants, their 

officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and those persons in active concert or 

participation with them, from further acts of infringement of one or more of the Patents-in-Suit;  

c. An order awarding damages sufficient to compensate Truesight for Defendants’ 

infringement of the Patents-in-Suit, but in no event less than a reasonable royalty, together with 

interest and costs; 

d. Entry of judgment declaring that this case is exceptional and awarding Truesight 
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its costs and reasonable attorney fees under 35 U.S.C. § 285; and 

e. Such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

Dated: October 15, 2024    Respectfully submitted, 

 /s/ Vincent J. Rubino, III            

Alfred R. Fabricant 

NY Bar No. 2219392 

Email: ffabricant@fabricantllp.com 

Peter Lambrianakos 

NY Bar No. 2894392 

Email: plambrianakos@fabricantllp.com 

Vincent J. Rubino, III 

NY Bar No. 4557435 

Email: vrubino@fabricantllp.com 

FABRICANT LLP 

411 Theodore Fremd Avenue 

Suite 206 South 

Rye, New York 10580 

Telephone: (212) 257-5797 
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John Andrew Rubino 
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Michael Mondelli III 
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51 J.F.K. Parkway 
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Telephone: (201) 341-9445 
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